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For Tom, Ann, and David Blastic 
Minha amada familia ersatz





She, who appeared so beautiful a woman,

spoke without hesitating, so readily,

and with so much ease,

and sweetness both of tongue and voice,

that her good sense surprised them

no less than her beauty.

She began the history of her life,

with a clear and sedate voice,

in this manner:

“There is a place in this country

of Andalusia, from which a duke

takes a title, which makes him one

of those they call Grandees of Spain.

This duke has two sons; the elder,

heir to his estate, and in appearance,

to his virtues.”

“Scarcely had he seen me,

when (as he afterwards declared)

he fell desperately in love with me,

as the proofs he then gave

of it sufficiently evinced.”

—Miguel de Cervantes 
Don Quixote de la Mancha (1605)
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PREFACE

Hemingway said that nobody ever lives their life “all the way up” except bullfighters. He was wrong.

Spies do as well.

Their existence is an admixture of drama, intrigue, danger, and double-dealing. In most cases, a spy cannot survive without being a consummate liar.

What are we to think, then, about those World War II spies who went on to write memoirs or give interviews for biographies? Were they lying? After all, they had proven during the war that they were skilled at creating an alternate reality. For many war buffs, the testimony of spies is presumed false until proven true. If they really did that, the thinking goes, if that really happened, it would be in the files of the intelligence agency. The problem is that most of the things spies did and saw, and conversations they had, were never recorded. That should be common sense, since the last thing a spy would want is to be caught with something in writing. Even in their post-war debriefings, spies generally did not recount the details of their missions.

The historian’s job, then, is essentially one of jurisprudence: applying the rules of evidence to ascertain what is credible, what is inadmissible hearsay, what is circumstantial, and so on. This is done by comparing what the spy claimed with the testimony of other primary sources (i.e., eyewitnesses), and with files found in intelligence archives.

Typically, since former spies are restricted by oaths of secrecy and classification, they don’t produce memoirs until thirty or more years after their active service. And over such a stretch, memories—particularly regarding dates and details—fade. In many instances, their recollections are inaccurate, sometimes with evident embellishments.

Accordingly, many of the heroic deeds performed by Allied spies during World War II—agents who risked their lives—have been challenged by historians. And that is certainly the case with Aline Griffith, whose extraordinary experiences working for the OSS I have tried to capture in this book. A few years ago a friend mentioned her name to me and I was intrigued: a thriller-type story about an American woman who had been a spy in Spain. But there was a caveat: he wasn’t sure if her story was true. I could dig into her file at the National Archives, of course, but I started with what she had written about her own life.

Aline wrote about her experience as a spy in five books—The History of Pascualete (1963), The Spy Wore Red (1987), The Spy Went Dancing (1990), The Spy Wore Silk (1991), and The End of an Epoch (2015)—as well as in an article (“The OSS in Spain During World War II”) she submitted for inclusion in The Secrets War: The Office of Strategic Services in World War II, a book published by the National Archives and Records Administration in 1992.I The History of Pascualete, Aline’s first memoir, mainly concerned her time refurbishing a historic Spanish estate owned by her husband’s family. She began the book, however, with a brief introduction of how she, an American, had ended up in Spain. She had been an OSS spy in Madrid during World War II, she wrote, and it was there that she met her husband, Luis Figueroa, a member of one of Spain’s most aristocratic families. What is significant about this first book is that Aline accurately stated when she had arrived in Lisbon (the layover stop en route to Madrid)—February 1944—and that her code name was BUTCH.

In 1987, after many documents relating to wartime Allied espionage in Portugal and Spain had been declassified, Aline told another version of her story in The Spy Wore Red, albeit with countless alterations, additions, and embellishments. In her preface she wrote that she had changed many names to protect the identities of individuals who remained active in intelligence, to avoid embarrassment of certain persons or their families, or because that person had requested anonymity.

The most important name change was the person who had recruited her, Frank Ryan, whom she refers to as “John Derby.” And her boss in Spain, Madrid station chief H. Gregory Thomas, she refers to as “Phillip Harris,” changing his code name from ARGUS to MOZART.

One might find it peculiar that she also changed her own code name—from BUTCH to TIGER—even though she had disclosed that it was BUTCH twenty-four years earlier in Pascualete. Aline explained the reason for the change in an interview: her editor wasn’t crazy about “BUTCH,” a less than appealing code name for a beautiful young woman operating in high-society Madrid.

Strangely, Aline also changed the date of her arrival in Europe. Hotel registrations show that she arrived in Lisbon on February 8, 1944, as she had stated in Pascualete, but twenty-four years later in The Spy Wore Red, she wrote that she arrived in late December 1943. Did she forget? Did she not consult her own prior book to make sure she had the dates correct? Apparently not.

But Aline’s mix-up of dates isn’t really significant. The bigger question I wanted to answer was whether she fictionalized or embellished all or most of her exploits. If she did, I realized, I’d have to find another spy to write about.

During my initial research I was particularly concerned by the claims of Nigel West, author of scores of books about World War II espionage, that Aline had made everything up. He asserted that Aline had been only an OSS clerk, and not an actual agent.II

West’s assertion struck me as odd, though. If Aline had lied about being an agent, wouldn’t a number of her OSS colleagues have refuted her story? And why would two of her books have carried endorsements by two former CIA directors? It’s unlikely that both William Casey (himself a former OSS agent who had known Aline during the war) and William Colby would have been supportive if they suspected her books were pure fiction.III Casey, in fact, seemed to go out of his way to assure readers of the veracity of Aline’s story: on the inside cover of The Spy Wore Red he wrote, “Her narrative reflects sensitively and accurately the clandestine intrigue and strategic maneuvers that marked the struggle between the secret services… in wartime Spain.”

After poring over OSS records—including every word in Aline’s files—during a four-day marathon at the National Archives and Records Administration in College Park, Maryland, and reviewing published and unpublished memoirs and letters from Aline’s Madrid station colleagues, I came to four conclusions:


	Aline had in fact trained at The Farm (an OSS school for prospective agents), was a code clerk in the Madrid station from February 1944 until August 15, 1945 (when the OSS office closed), and was a field agent from February 1945 to August 15, 1945.

	She was a highly productive and valuable agent, producing some fifty-nine field reports, far more than any other Madrid agent, and had more subagents working for her than anyone other than possibly the station chief, Gregory Thomas, or Larry Mellon, who was supervisor of the French-Spanish escape chains.

	She imagined numerous events and murders in her three espionage memoirs.

	Her overall story was quite legitimate, and one killing she mentioned was not only true (I confirmed it with the person who actually handled the corpse), but shocking in its violence.



So there’s no question that Aline was an active, highly valued operational agent, but her spy books must be regarded as historical fiction; some parts are true, many others not. What you will find in The Princess Spy, then, is what I believe—based upon OSS records and other historical sources—actually happened in wartime Madrid.

And as with all of my books, every word of dialogue found in the text is a direct quote from a primary source, all of which are documented in the endnotes.

Larry Loftis

February 1, 2020

I. She also published a sixth book in 1994, The Well-Mannered Assassin, but this was a purely fictional work.

II. Nigel West, Historical Dictionary of Sexpionage, 326.

III. Casey was CIA director from 1981 to 1987. Colby was director from 1973 to 1976.






PROLOGUE

It was probably the wind.

Gusts seemed to be blowing all the time in Madrid. Besides, Aline told herself, no one knew where she lived. While her apartment was on the list of safe houses for agents coming through the French-Spanish escape line, no one had yet used it.

She glanced at herself in the mirror, pleased with the way she looked in her red silk dress. Edmundo was picking her up at ten for a cocktail party, and then they were going to La Reboite for dancing. Flamenco would probably start around eleven, and her dress was perfect for all the spinning and turning.

But what about that man who seemed to be following me on the street a few days ago? she asked herself. He certainly knows where I live.

She twisted out her lipstick and began to apply it. Yes, that man was disturbing, as were the footsteps she’d heard echoing behind her several times when she’d come home late from the office. Then again, she’d only seen the man’s back, and the footsteps the other nights could have been those of the neighborhood night watchman. Besides, it would be impossible for anyone to get on the roof and—

There it is again.

The shutters.

Aline froze for a moment and listened. Everything was still. She was imagining things. Wind blows, shutters creak. She put her lipstick in her purse.

And again.

No doubt this time. Shutters don’t creak like that from the wind. Someone was prying them open.

Quietly, she eased back the vanity drawer and removed her pistol. This was precisely the reason for all those endless exercises at The Farm—the shooting in the dark and around corners. She was a good shot, too, although she’d never practiced with this much adrenaline surging through her veins.

The window was in the adjoining salon and she’d have to be careful not to be silhouetted by the moonlight streaming in from her bedroom window. She flipped off the gun’s safety and tiptoed into the hallway.

Her breathing was shallow and fast and she prayed her hand would be steady.

Slowly, she began sliding along the wall, edging closer within the shadows.

As she approached the opening to the salon there was another creak and then she saw it.

A man’s hand pushing back the curtain.

She raised the gun.






CHAPTER 1 DYING TO FIGHT


May 24, 1941

Estoril, Portugal

The American checked in and surveyed his luxurious surroundings. Estoril’s Palacio, Portugal’s finest, was everything he had heard: an opulent five-star hotel and resort with a golf course, spa, and Europe’s largest casino, all situated alongside the gleaming Tamariz Beach. Royalty often visited here, creating Estoril’s reputation as the Portuguese Riviera, and with Portugal’s neutrality during the war, many were here now, enjoying the town’s safety, beauty, and amenities.

The clerk mumbled in broken English about a form for foreign guests and asked his occupation. Thinking of something generic, he said “businessman” and watched as the clerk wrote comerciante on the form.

Stepping away from the registration desk, he could see the pool and terrace tables through the full-length windows. To his right was the Palacio bar, small but handsomely appointed. If the rumors were true, many of its patrons were spies, which meant he’d have to frequent it nightly.

His cover was sound as he had no ostensible reason to be here; America wasn’t in the war, after all, and he couldn’t be suspected of being a spook since the US had no intelligence agency. He wasn’t even in the military. For all practical purposes, he was a ghost.

His name was Frank T. Ryan.

What he was up to was off the record but vitally important to US national interests. And his timing couldn’t have been better. British Naval Intelligence officer Ian Fleming had checked in to the Palacio four days earlier. German press attaché Hans Lazar—the most powerful Nazi in Spain—would arrive two weeks later.


[image: Image]
Frank Timothy Ryan’s Palacio Hotel registration, May 24, 1941. Cascais Archive



Meanwhile, an ocean away in rural New York, a tall young woman who had just graduated from the College of Mount Saint Vincent was searching for employment. She had the good looks of a model or actress, but her small town didn’t offer those kinds of jobs. Born May 22, 1920, in Pearl River, New York, Marie Aline Griffith was the eldest of six children. Her mother and father also had been born in Pearl River, a hamlet located twenty miles north of midtown Manhattan.

Founded in 1870 by Julius Braunsdorf, a German immigrant who had relocated his Aetna Sewing Machine Company there, the town began to flourish some twenty-two years later when Aline’s grandfather, Talbot C. Dexter, moved his Dexter Folder Company into Braunsdorf’s building. Dexter had invented and patented a machine that changed the way that books, newspapers, and magazines were assembled.

During Aline’s childhood Pearl River was a Norman Rockwell town, with four Main Street attractions: Schumacher’s grocery, Rowan’s butcher, Sandford’s drugstore, and the First National Bank. There was one school—the Pearl River School—and Aline would see no other classrooms until she left for college.

Aline’s father managed the Dexter factory and her mother was a homemaker. Their house, situated less than a thousand feet from the Pascack Valley Line, allowed Aline to see and hear the train as it whistled by, twice in the morning and twice in the evening, on its way to and from Manhattan.


[image: Image]
Pearl River as Aline knew it during her childhood. The Griffith home was located in the wooded section about where the center of the north-pointing arrow is located. Directly above “Pearl River” the rendering shows the Braunsdorf-Dexter factory where her father worked, and to the right of “Pearl River” the local train can be seen heading into town.



Even in the 1930s and 1940s, Pearl River felt like a town somehow suspended in an earlier time, and some of Aline’s schoolteachers had taught her mother. Crime was virtually nonexistent here, but there wasn’t much to do other than stroll to the park or hike in the woods. In an effort to promote business and commercial construction, Pearl River branded itself “The Town of Friendly People.” Indeed, it was a friendly town—a nice, quiet place to raise a family—but when Aline graduated from high school, she couldn’t get out fast enough. She was seventeen, yet she knew nothing of the outside world. Life was ticking by, and she was determined to broaden her small-town horizons.

Hoping to attend a university that had football games and dances, Aline was a bit disappointed when her parents chose for her a less exciting alternative: Mount Saint Vincent. It was a Catholic girls’ school with the regimen of the Marines: lights out at ten o’clock. It was also in the Bronx, a less than appealing college town.

The adventure Aline had been hoping for seemed far away.

In the summers she found convenient, mundane jobs. After her sophomore year, she worked as a supervisor at Rockland State Hospital, and after her junior year she worked as a secretary for Manny Rooney, a Pearl River attorney. She wasn’t quite sure what she wanted to do after graduation, but events soon conspired to create the opportunity she was looking for. During her final semester, the winter of 1941, the Japanese bombed Pearl Harbor, and her younger brothers went off to war almost immediately, Dexter as a fighter pilot in England and Tommy as a submariner in the South Pacific. Aline knew that as a woman she couldn’t be a soldier but felt that nothing short of joining the war effort in some manner would fulfill her patriotic longing to do her part. Throughout December she searched for a way to help, but without success.

After the New Year she found employment, but it was a far cry from military service. At five foot nine, slender, and beautiful, Aline was perfectly suited for modeling, so she took a job with Hattie Carnegie in New York City. It was a dream job for any young woman, as Hattie was one of the top fashion designers in the country, but it wasn’t Aline’s dream.

While Aline wouldn’t have known it, Hattie Carnegie was an American success story. When her father died in 1902, thirteen-year-old Henrietta Kanengeiser commenced her business career as a messenger for Macy’s. Two years later she began modeling, and in 1909 she launched her own custom clothing business, having changed her last name to Carnegie, a nod to Andrew Carnegie, the wealthiest man in America. Just a few years later Hattie opened her own store just off Park Avenue and was traveling to Paris annually in search of the latest fashions.

From Hattie, Aline would learn not only fashion, but poise, composure, and how to mingle at high-society events—skills that would come in handy later in situations with much higher stakes.

For eighteen months Aline modeled each season’s new dresses, parading down runways as if she’d been trained in Paris. But the fittings, makeup, hair styling, and glitz of fashion were the last things she wanted. She was grateful for the work but there was a war going on, and what she was doing on a daily basis seemed almost sinful compared to the sacrifices others were making.

In August 1943 one of her friends, Amy Porter, invited her to a dinner party. Amy was dating a wealthy young man named John whom she hoped to marry, and she wanted to introduce Aline to John’s brother Frank, who was coming to town. Frank was in his midthirties, Amy said, and he was flying in from somewhere overseas.

Overseas. Perhaps he’d have firsthand knowledge about the war, Aline thought.

The dinner was at John’s apartment in Manhattan, and along with Frank, Amy, and Aline, two of John’s colleagues from Standard Oil had been invited. The oilmen sat to Aline’s left, Frank to her right. His suit was immaculate and looked hand-tailored, suggesting Wall Street or Madison Avenue. He had light blue eyes, a square, intelligent-looking face, and thin lips. His neck and jaw were thick like a wrestler’s, but he had an easy smile. He was handsome, she reckoned, in a college professor sort of way.

As the night wore on the men bantered endlessly about the war, going back and forth about Patton and Rommel, Hitler and Roosevelt. Aline noticed that Frank was polite but a bit aloof, as if preoccupied with more important matters. He also didn’t seem to express any romantic interest in her, which was something of a relief.

When the conversation lulled, Frank turned to her, smiling.

“Are you planning to become a famous model?”

The question caught Aline off guard, but she realized that John must have told Frank that she worked for Hattie Carnegie.

Aline smirked. “Not if I can help it.”

“Really? And why is that?”

“I want to get into the war—overseas.”

Frank suggested that she could become a nurse, but Aline brushed it off, saying that training to become a nurse would take years. She wanted to get into the war now, she said, and in Europe where the real fighting was.

“Now, why on earth would an attractive girl like you, safe and sound here in New York, want to go abroad to become embroiled in a bloody massacre? Someplace where your life could be in danger?”

Aline shrugged. “I love adventure. I like taking risks. All the men I know are eager to get over there. Why should it seem strange that a woman wants to also?”

Frank ignored the rhetorical question and probed about Aline’s romantic life. Did she have someone she was in love with? Was she about to get married?

The inquiries were a little personal, Aline thought, but she answered that no, she wasn’t in love—not that it should make any difference about what she could or could not do for her country.

“Do you know any foreign languages?”

Aline replied that she had majored in French and minored in Spanish.

Frank flashed his easy smile. “Well, Miss Griffith, if you’re really serious about a job overseas, there’s a slight possibility I can help. If you should happen to hear from a Mr. Tomlinson, you’ll know what it’s about.”

Aline returned the smile with a glimmer of hope, but at the same time she didn’t expect much. Frank hadn’t said who Mr. Tomlinson was, or even taken her number, so how serious could he be?

At the very least, though, she felt she’d made a new friend in Frank Ryan.



About two weeks later Aline’s father mentioned that their bank had received an inquiry of some sort about them. Her mother thought it probably had to do with their boys now that they were in the service, but her dad worried the investigation might be connected to business.

But when they heard nothing more about it, it slipped from their minds. Then, on the last day of September, Aline received a long-distance call.

“This is Mr. Tomlinson,” the man said in a deep voice. “Can you be free for a few minutes tomorrow?”

Aline said she could.

“Then please be in the Biltmore Hotel lobby, at six o’clock. A man with a white carnation in his lapel will be looking for you. Don’t mention this meeting to anyone.”

At the appointed hour Aline was at the hotel. Soldiers in crisp uniforms were buzzing in and out, a few at the bar having their last drinks before shipping out. After several minutes a distinguished silver-haired man in an expensive suit—duly adorned with a white carnation—greeted her without mentioning his name. He motioned to a quiet alcove where they could talk.

He said he worked for the War Department, and that they might have some work that could interest her. He couldn’t tell her exactly what the work would entail, though, until she had passed some tests. He had a calm, soothing demeanor that put Aline at ease, and he seemed to take it for granted that Aline would be interested.

“Would I work overseas?”

The man nodded. “If you succeed in the tests, yes. Can you come to Washington within ten days? It will mean taking leave from your job. You may never go back, if all goes well.”

Aline said she could.

He thumbed through a date book and told her she’d need to arrive in Washington on November 1. Handing her a card with a phone number and address to give to her parents, he explained that she would not be at that location, but that calls and messages would be forwarded to her.

“Tell your family you’re being interviewed by the War Department for a job. Bring a suitcase of clothes suitable for the country. Remove all labels. Carry nothing with your initials, nor papers or letters with your name. No one must be able to identify anything about you.”

He gave her a second card with a different address and told her this was where she was to arrive, no later than noon. “Go directly to the Q Building. Give a false name and home address to the receptionist.”

With that he bid her good luck and was gone.






CHAPTER 2 THE FARM


August 17, 1943

Mexico City

Edmundo Lassalle mailed his résumé to Dr. James Hamilton, still mystified over exactly what the Office of Strategic Services did. From his conversation with Hamilton the day before, he understood the position would entail work abroad—perhaps in Latin America or Spain—and Lassalle felt sure his credentials were as good as anyone’s.

Born in San Cristóbal, Mexico, in 1914, Edmundo had graduated from the National University of Mexico in 1934—after only two years—at the age of twenty. In addition to his native Spanish, he could read and speak French and Italian, and read Portuguese. So that he might add English to the list, he enrolled at Columbia University in the fall of 1935, but soon thereafter he was offered a scholarship and a part-time teaching position at the University of California. He excelled at Berkeley, graduating Phi Beta Kappa in 1938. Following his path toward a career in academia, he remained at Cal to pursue a doctorate in history.

That path was interrupted in 1940, however, when he was offered a job in Washington at the Pan American Union (forerunner of the Organization of American States, or OAS). He wasn’t a US citizen at the time, but the position was open to citizens of Union member countries, which included Mexico, and he was appointed special assistant to the Division of Intellectual Cooperation. The job was something of an academic-diplomatic hybrid, and within his first year he published two white papers: “Higher Education in Argentina” and “The Araucanians.”

His work did not go unnoticed. In the fall of 1941 he was offered a position with the Office of the Coordinator of Inter-American Affairs (later to become the Office for Inter-American Affairs, or OIAA). Few had heard of the organization, which was loosely affiliated with the US State Department, but the young man running it was Nelson Rockefeller, grandson of Standard Oil founder John D. Rockefeller.

The agency’s principal function was to distribute news, films, advertising, and radio broadcasts in Latin America to counter German propaganda, and Edmundo’s job—commencing January 19, 1942—was to advise on implementation regarding Mexico. Since the OIAA had set up a special division for producing radio and motion pictures propaganda, Edmundo consulted often with the main contractor, the Walt Disney Company.I

In March, Edmundo gained US citizenship, and in April he received a promotion and a raise. In spite of the terrific work and high-profile contacts, though, he chafed at what he felt was Rockefeller’s top-down, Aristotelian management, believing that the director paid little attention to the counsel of the organization’s Latino staffers. After a year Edmundo had had enough and began looking for other employment.

Edmundo’s conversation with Dr. Hamilton on August 16 suggested that the position with the Office of Strategic Services had real promise. In his cover letter accompanying his résumé, Edmundo highlighted his credentials:


My [OIAA] office has been mainly devoted to research, the appraisal and preparation of propaganda material and the handling of confidential projects concerning Latin America…. I believe I can satisfactorily perform any assignment which your office may require in any place where Spanish is important; however, I have knowledge of Italian, French and Portuguese.



The references he gave were impressive: Dr. Enrique de Lozado, his OIAA supervisor, and one Henry A. Wallace, vice president of the United States.

For more than a month Edmundo heard nothing. Then in October, while in Hollywood for business, he was summoned back to Washington for an urgent meeting. It wasn’t the OIAA calling, though; he was supposed to meet with someone from Dr. Hamilton’s office.

Someone named Frank Ryan.

November 1, 1943

Washington, DC

When Aline arrived at the Q Building, 2430 E Street, she was not impressed. Unlike most of Washington’s grand structures, the building was single-story and appeared prefabricated. It seemed a most unlikely place from which to launch a top-secret mission.

As she’d been instructed, she gave a false name and the receptionist escorted her to the office where she was to be interviewed. The walls were bare and gray, like a hospital, and from what she could tell the filing cabinets were built into some kind of safe. Military security, perhaps. The man behind the desk, though, gave her a start; sitting there like a seasoned bureaucrat was none other than Frank Ryan, her old dinner date.

Ryan greeted her warmly and asked her to have a seat.

“Your first trip to Washington, isn’t it?”

Aline could feel her heart thumping as she nodded. “Almost the farthest I’ve ever been from home.”

“There is nothing I can tell you today about your work,” Ryan said, folding his hands. “The most I can do is to warn you to be very careful never to say anything about yourself. You are going to be tested in many ways to see how you adapt to new situations. From now on no one can know anything about you, whether you are American or European, whether you have lived in one country or another. Your success depends entirely on yourself and your ability to learn and to preserve secrecy.”

Ryan’s voice was low and calm, and with the same deadly seriousness as the man at the Biltmore. “From this minute on,” he added, “you may be followed. And where you will be living, your colleagues may go through your belongings searching for clues to your identity.”

He handed her a small slip of yellow paper. “Here are your instructions. Remember—you may be followed every moment from now on.”

Aline glanced at the paper, which revealed an address somewhere in Maryland, outside of Washington, DC. Ryan told her to go to the Hay Adams Hotel and wait at the main entrance for a black Chevrolet sedan—license number TX16248. She was then to ask, “Is this Mr. Tom’s car?”

Ryan stood and showed her to the door. “Destroy it afterward,” he said, motioning to the paper. “It’s a luxury for beginners.”

Suitcase in hand, Aline hustled out of the building and then it dawned on her: she had no idea where the Hay Adams Hotel was. Remembering Ryan’s warning about being followed, she strolled three blocks, went into a store, called the hotel for directions, and hailed a taxi.

Minutes later the car turned into the circular drive leading to the hotel’s portico. The Hay Adams looked just like a government building—a hulking cube built out of the city’s ubiquitous gray granite blocks—and was a hive of activity. Bellmen and porters were scurrying about loading and unloading guests’ luggage.

Aline got out and scanned the driveway for the black Chevrolet. A bellboy suddenly appeared at her side and tried to take her suitcase. She jerked it back, unsure of what to tell him. She had never stayed at a hotel before and wasn’t sure of the protocol. Did bellboys automatically take everyone’s luggage?

Brushing him aside, she again searched for the car and found it. As she checked the tag—it was the right one—two men jumped in and the chauffeur started the motor.

“Stop! Stop!” Aline yelled. “I’m supposed to go with you.”

“What’s your name?”

Aline started to answer but caught herself. “Is this Mr. Tom’s car?”

With that the driver took her bag, put it in the trunk and they were off.

The men sitting next to her—a middle-aged man with thinning brown hair and a younger man by the door whose face she couldn’t see—didn’t say a word, and Aline figured it was best not to greet them or engage in small talk. The car headed east out of the city and after some time she checked her watch. They had been driving for forty minutes and were now on a two-lane country road surrounded by woods. Fleeting thoughts of being kidnapped came and went, but she reminded herself that Frank Ryan was legit, whatever he was up to.

From her seat in the back, Aline noticed that the driver constantly checked the rearview mirror to make sure they weren’t being followed.

Some twenty miles south of the capitol they arrived at their destination: Lothian Farm. A 100-acre campus near Clinton, Maryland, it served as an OSS training facility and was officially known as RTU-11. Unofficially, it was just called The Farm.

Aline peered out at a large white house set atop a hill. It was surrounded by woods, and the red, yellow, and brown foliage made the entire estate look like something out of Town & Country. A chorus of chirping birds greeted them and she sighed at the tranquil setting, until another noise caught her attention. She cocked her head.

Was that gunfire?

The driver pulled up to the entrance and an army officer met them at the door.

“I’m Captain Williams,” he said. “Welcome to The Farm.”

As the captain greeted their party, Aline finally got a look at the man who had been blocked from her view in the car. He was simply the most handsome man she had ever seen. He was athletic-looking with thick black hair, skin darkened by the sun, and brooding brown eyes.

Captain Williams seemed to know him, addressing him as “Pierre.”

It was a name she’d not soon forget.

After the introductions—aliases, Aline presumed—they were led inside. The farmhouse, while spacious, was no country club. Suspended from the ceiling were models of German warplanes and tanks, and along the walls and in every corner were life-size dummies of German, Italian, and Japanese soldiers of various ranks. This was a war college, it seemed, and she wondered if she’d be tested on enemy equipment and uniforms.
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Models of German soldiers used at The Farm. NARA



Dinner was at six, Williams informed them, and there would be a meeting for new recruits in the library afterward. Turning to a sergeant, he said, “Why don’t you take this young lady’s suitcase and show her to her room.”

The sergeant grabbed Aline’s bag and escorted her upstairs. The room was small and spartan, with twin beds, a single bureau, and two small chairs. A young woman with a gaunt face and thick lashes peered up from one of the beds and set a book aside. Aline paused to allow the sergeant to introduce them, but he placed her suitcase on the floor and left.

She glanced at the open bunk.

“Not a word you don’t want overheard,” the woman said with a distinct French accent. She nodded toward the bed. Below the headrest, Aline saw, was a microphone.

It was a trick the OSS had learned from their big brother, Britain’s secret service agency, MI6. Their ally across the pond had had a two-year head start in the intelligence game, and their training schools at Wansborough and Beaulieu served as models for OSS training. A serious danger for any spy, the British had learned, was the proclivity to talk in one’s sleep. So MI6 and the Special Operations Executive (SOE), Britain’s sabotage-espionage outfit, tested recruits to see if they did, and if so, in what language. The OSS followed suit.

Someone would be listening to Aline throughout the night, every night. If she talked in her sleep, she would be dismissed.



That evening during dinner Aline noticed that she and her roommate were the only women among some dozen male recruits, all of whom looked like seasoned soldiers. How would she compete against them? She was the youngest by far and had scarcely seen anything outside of sleepy Pearl River. Even her roommate was years her senior and had a worldly look about her.

When dinner was over, the group made their way into the library. A crackling fire gave the room a warm amber glow, and Captain Williams was leaning against a desk, apparently sizing them up.

“You’re probably wondering where you are,” he said when everyone was seated, “and what you are here for.” He paused, scanning their faces. “You are in the first school of espionage in the United States, and you are here to be made into spies.”

Spies? Aline stirred.

Williams explained that they were being trained for work with an organization called the Office of Strategic Services, or OSS, run by a man named General William Donovan.II There were two main sections, he said, Operations and Intelligence. Operations included sabotage, raids, supply drops, and organization of Resistance groups. The intelligence arm involved secret intelligence (SI)—gathering information about the enemy—and counterintelligence (X-2), operations to thwart enemy intelligence. It seemed clear to Aline that she wasn’t being trained to be a commando, so the only question was whether she was being considered for intelligence or counterintelligence.

The course would last several weeks, Williams went on, and some would not make it. “For a few,” he said, “your memory won’t be sharp enough. Or your responses too slow. Or the fatigue will grind you down—I’d better tell you right now you’re going to be put through some pretty rough tests—and you’re going to have to follow every order whether you like it or not. You’re going to have to be a champ just when you think you’re too tired to stay awake another minute—and then you’ll have to make split-second decisions.”

If anyone didn’t like what they had heard, Williams added, they were free to leave. “As long as you sign a paper and swear under oath never to repeat a word you’ve heard in this room, you can leave now and be driven back to Washington in an hour. And forget you were ever here.”

Aline scanned the room. No one moved.

Williams nodded and told them to turn in early and get a good night’s sleep.

“It may be your last.”



Class began promptly at eight thirty the next morning and Captain Williams introduced their instructor for the day only as “our friend.” His uniform indicated that he, too, was a captain, but his name and background were not mentioned.

“The first thing you’d better get into your heads,” the man began, “is that this is a secret intelligence agency, not a public information service. The intelligence we provide to the military is top secret. Know what that means? It means you can be shot just for knowing it yourself. In other words, one ear doesn’t even tell the other.”

Now the aliases and mystery with meetings and travel made sense, Aline thought. It also explained the international aspect of her group. In addition to Americans, several of the men in her group were French, one or two were German, one was perhaps Belgian, and two seemed to be from somewhere in Eastern Europe.

The instructor went on: “We’re here to save lives. That will be our prime effort. The information our agents obtain of the enemy’s forces, their coastal emplacements, their troop movements, roadblocks, antiaircraft guns, their mines—together with knowledge of their intentions—all indispensable.”

Over the next two hours Aline learned about security abroad, and how to protect and preserve her cover, followed by two hours in basic cipher. The afternoon brought the first round of weapons training in a field behind the house. There she was introduced to the .45 semiautomatic—the most lethal pistol in existence at the time—which was heavy and bulky and intimidating. She fired at the bull’s-eye and missed the target completely, hitting a tree next to it.

The damn thing was too big for her small hand, and it kicked like a mule.

She fired again. And again. And again. Her hand began to ache and it seemed the muscles throughout her body were traumatized, yet she actually enjoyed it. Something about the power, the sound, the concussion, the smell; even the competition with the other recruits was exhilarating.

After dinner the group watched a training film and then had a short class in mapping. Even then, they were not yet finished. Before turning in they had one more class: fighting knife. Unarmed.

Stories about their instructor, Major William Fairbairn, had already circulated among the students. He was a legend, something of a celebrity even. Given his reputation, Aline was surprised to see that the man didn’t look lethal. He was older and quite thin. But Fairbairn’s unassuming appearance was deceiving.

At fifty-eight, he was one of the most dangerous men in the world. For thirty years he had served with the Shanghai Municipal Police, founding its riot squad and rising to the rank of assistant commissioner. Shanghai was a city of gangs, thugs, and drug dealers at the time, and Fairbairn was rumored to have been in more than six hundred street fights. The scars on his torso, arms, and hands bore evidence of countless knife fights, and he had even co-developed his own blade, the Fairbairn-Sykes fighting knife.I Between 1927 and 1940, he had trained all US Marines stationed in China. The man was a force.

Aline paid close attention, learning—among other things—how to turn a newspaper into a dagger. Hopefully it would be a skill she’d not need.

Day two brought classes on how to acquire and report secret intelligence, as well as how to recruit and handle subagents. After lunch it was another two hours with Major Fairbairn for close combat training.

The more Aline watched this man, the more intimidating he became. He had been nicknamed “Dangerous Dan” and “The Shanghai Buster” by British commandos he had trained, and the monikers were apt. He had trained under the founder of judo, Kanō Jigorō, and held a second-degree black belt. He had also trained extensively in jujitsu, boxing, savate, and other styles and had molded them into a ruthless combat system he called “Defendu.” When his book by that name came out in 1926, Fairbairn was dubbed the “father of hand-to-hand combat.”

The rest of the week brought more cipher and mapping instruction, chain organization, surveillance, and weapons practice. In addition to the .45, they practiced with a .30-caliber carbine and a Thompson submachine gun.

In the late afternoons the recruits were allowed “recreation,” but this was hardly the school or YMCA version. Aline and her roommate, together with the men, jumped stone walls, waded through muddy streams, and crawled through weeds and underbrush. On several occasions, just when she thought she couldn’t make it, Pierre appeared at her side to encourage her.

“Come on,” he said one day, “only two more hurdles to go. Don’t get discouraged. You’re doing fine.”

Often, when she felt she couldn’t move another inch, Pierre pushed or pulled her to the finish line.

The second week brought more classes in close combat, weapons, mapping, and coding, and added instruction about German and Japanese intelligence, counterintelligence, searches, reporting, demolition, and booby traps. Another new class Aline found particularly interesting was lockpicking. The rumor was that their instructor, “George,” had been released from prison to teach the class, and it was believable because he also taught pickpocketing and safecracking. His real name, appropriately enough, was Lieutenant Compton Crook.

A huge, gangling man, George explained the significance of the training, telling the group: “Before you get your hands on the enemy, you have to break into his house.” He grinned and added, “Once you’ve broken into his house, you can break into his safe.”

Intelligence classes were equally compelling. In one session Aline was shown several slides of faces with corresponding biographical data; seconds later the faces would reappear without the text and she’d have to supply the missing details. Then there were slides of maps of various places: towns, landmarks, and rivers would be shown, each with names; then the slides would be flashed again with nothing and Aline would have to recall the names.

One day during close combat practice, Aline and Pierre were paired. Again and again throughout the exercise they were in close physical contact, and when Pierre took her hands to help her up from the ground after a throw, she felt a charge of electricity pass between them.

There was something about this dark, handsome man that Aline found intriguing. And dangerous.

He was the only student who seemed completely at ease with the training, she noticed, as though he’d already been through it before.

I. Walt Disney Productions produced several films for the OIAA, including the highly successful Saludos Amigos, released in 1942.

II. President Franklin D. Roosevelt had established the Coordinator of Information on July 11, 1941, appointing Donovan as its head, which then became the OSS on June 13, 1942.

III. A double-edged stiletto used by the British SAS and adopted by the OSS. It remains in use today by many commando and special forces units around the world.






CHAPTER 3 CLOSE ENCOUNTERS


On the morning of Saturday, November 13, Aline joined the other recruits in exercises—push-ups, sit-ups, and light jujitsu—and then was back on the shooting range trying to get comfortable with the bulky .45. It had just begun to drizzle when she noticed that Captain Williams was standing a few feet behind her with an umbrella. He motioned for her to follow him and they walked back to the farmhouse.

She needed to change her clothes, he said, because she was once again going to Washington. “You have a meeting this afternoon with Royal.”

Royal? Aline waited for him to elaborate, but he said nothing more.

When she arrived back at the Q Building in downtown Washington, DC, she discovered that “Royal” was none other than Frank Ryan.

“Well, Butch,” he said, “you’ve fared better than some of us expected.”

Aline raised an eyebrow, and Ryan informed her that “Butch” was her new code name, which she would use in the field. And oh, by the way, he added, she would be going to Spain.

“Then I have passed the tests?”

“Yes, but you will need more preparation before we can send you over there. Apart from the normal routine, you will have to study up on your destination. In the library at The Farm there is abundant information on the countries where our agents will be sent. You must become familiar with Spain’s geography and history, and be able to recognize the current political personalities.”

Ryan explained that she would be assigned to SI—Secret Intelligence—and that her posting was an extremely important one since Spain was critical to Allied success in the war. “On the surface,” he said, “the country declares itself neutral. Politically, emotionally, it is aligned with Hitler. Spain is precarious, volatile. Franco won his civil war with German and Italian money [and] troops.”

Aline had studied the Spanish Civil War in college and remembered that King Alfonso XIII had abandoned the throne in 1931 because of violent uprisings. Municipal elections on April 12 of that year had brought a fierce competition between the “republicans”—a coalition of communists, socialists, and anarchists—and candidates supporting the monarchy. While the republicans won a majority of votes in Madrid and the large cities, the monarchists dominated the smaller towns and countryside. The monarchists assumed they had won enough seats to control the government, and thus protect the monarchy,I but in Madrid crowds began to gather in the streets. Republican leaders advised the king’s ministers that King Alfonso should leave the capital “before sunset” to avoid bloodshed, and he capitulated.

The republican government that assumed power was seen by the monarchists as illegal, and they were further incensed when republican mobs began to burn churches. Incredibly, the scenario seemed to repeat itself in the 1936 elections. The republicans won by the slimmest of margins and their opponents on the right, a “nationalist” coalition of the aristocracy, Catholic Church, military, and the fascist Falangists, believed that the vote tabulation was again improper. Not long after this a nationalist politician was assassinated by civil guards and this event seemed to ignite the brewing powder keg.

The nationalists revolted and their movement soon came under the control of General Francisco Franco. Both sides received substantial foreign military aid (republicans from the Russians, nationalists from the Germans), Ryan said, and both sides were guilty of countless atrocities. After a bloody three-year civil war, the nationalists prevailed and Franco was named Spain’s Generalissimo and Head of State.

And while Franco held total power as a military dictator, he was nevertheless walking a tightrope. He was, first and foremost, a Spaniard and a Catholic. He wanted no part of the atheism that communism and Nazism brought, nor the destruction of Spanish culture that would surely occur if Spain became a satellite of Russia or Germany. Like most Spaniards, he wanted a truly independent Spain. But he knew that a neutrality without lip service and a few concessions to Germany would provoke Hitler to invade the country to gain control of Gibraltar, and thus the Mediterranean. So Franco apparently felt that he had little choice but to appease Hitler to keep German troops on the French side of the Pyrenees.

His first concession, in August 1941, was the creation of the Blue Division—a contingent of 45,000 Spanish troops—which fought within the German Army on the Eastern Front.

Another concession, Ryan explained, involved shipments of wolframite, the key ingredient in the manufacture of tungsten, an alloy needed for tanks, bullets, and other military assets. Ironically, only Portugal and Spain—both neutral countries—were sources for wolframite, and they supplied both the Allies and the Germans.

“Spain is still a jumble of factions,” Ryan went on. He explained that many of those on the losing side of the Spanish Civil War were diehard communists, and yet some of them became close American allies because of their hatred of Germany.

And there was one more thing, he said, that created a bit of intrigue. “Admiral Canaris, the head of German intelligence, the Abwehr,II is a close friend of Franco and visits him regularly. HimmlerIII is trying to discredit Canaris with Hitler, claiming Canaris influences Franco not to join the Axis. We are anxious that Himmler not eliminate Canaris from his job because our agents in other countries inform us that CanarisIV is backing plots to assassinate Hitler.”

With that, Ryan placed before her something she needed to sign: the OSS oath of office.
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Aline’s Oath of Office, signed November 13, 1943. NARA



Aline signed it and Ryan had it notarized.

Meanwhile, Ryan was working to secure the agent who would eventually be teaming up with her in Madrid: Edmundo Lassalle. Edmundo was eager to start, but his cover as the Walt Disney Company’s representative on the Iberian Peninsula was still being worked out. First, the OSS would have to hire Edmundo as a civilian, matching his rank and $4,600 annual OIAA salary. Then two contracts would have to be signed: one for Lassalle’s employment with Disney, and one between the OSS and Disney whereby the OSS would secretly reimburse Disney for Edmundo’s salary and expenses. Once both contracts were signed, Edmundo would be terminated by the OSS and begin his new job. In reality, though, Edmundo would be burning the candle at both ends, since the OSS and Disney both expected real, full-time work.

Messy, but Lassalle’s position was critical and it was important that he have an impeccable cover.



Back at The Farm, Aline began week three of her training. She and the other recruits reviewed everything again, but with added pressure. In the weapons class, they now had to disassemble and reassemble—in the dark—Allied and enemy weapons. At the range, they had to stand alongside targets while others practiced so they’d get the “feel” of being fired upon. But the fun was just beginning. Midweek, Captain Williams called her into his office.

“Ready for a couple of trial missions?”

Aline said she was. The prior two weeks had been a blur of Morse code, cipher, surveillance, maps, weapons, and close combat, but she was confident and anxious to test her skills.

“Tomorrow morning at eight,” the captain said, “you’ll be driven to Union Station, from which you’ll catch the twelve o’clock Penn Central to Richmond, Virginia. You have six hours to deliver this message.” He handed her an envelope and continued: “Return to Washington on the five o’clock train and you will be met at the station.”

He held up a paper. “Memorize this.”

Aline saw a name and address for a second and then Williams crumpled it in his hand.

“Your objective,” he added, “is to deliver the envelope without its being… interrupted, confiscated.”



The Penn Central train was crowded, but it took Aline only a few minutes after departure to spot him.

Losing a tag was simple if your timing was good, and she decided to use the oldest trick in the book. When the conductor announced that Fredericksburg was the next stop, Aline slipped into the restroom. She could feel the train slowing, and then stopping as the conductor announced the arrival.

She waited.

When the train started rolling again, she threw open the lavatory door, bolted for the exit, and jumped onto the platform. Turning back she saw that her tag had not had time to follow. She had lost him, but her exit created a new problem: how was she to get to Richmond on time? There wasn’t another train until four thirty, and no buses until after that. She was carrying little money—certainly not enough for a taxi—which left only one option.

She hitchhiked.

When she finally arrived in Richmond she found that the address Williams had given her was a hotel. She went to the front desk and asked the clerk if the man whose name Williams had let her briefly see was in. The clerk said he was not.

Aline checked her watch. She had lost valuable time on the side route and knew she’d have to hustle to make the five o’clock return train.

The clerk asked if she could wait and Aline shook her head. It was already 4:45 and she had to go.

At the station, she called the hotel and asked the operator to ring the guest’s room. It was now a few minutes before five o’clock and fortunately the man was in. She gave him a description of the station booth she was calling from and told him he’d find the envelope in the phone book tucked among the R pages.

He sounded pleased and she boarded her return train, making it back to The Farm without further incident.

Her next assignment was a bit more complicated. Williams told her she was to go to Pittsburgh and get a job at an aircraft parts factory. Complicating things, she would have no identification, so her ingenuity would be tested. If she managed that, he went on, she was to return to the factory the same night, break in, crack the office safe, and retrieve a conspicuous envelope containing valuable information.

He handed her a set of blueprints showing the location of the factory office and safe. As Aline studied it, he gave her a small card.

“Here’s the number to call if you land in jail.”

She gave him a sidelong glance and Williams shrugged. It wasn’t uncommon, he said, and he assured her that they would spring her if she got caught.

Aline went to Pittsburgh, found the factory, and charmed her way into a job without much trouble, but the criminal mischief was a bit more challenging. She broke in that night and cracked the safe, but there was no envelope. She stared into the empty void for a moment and then it happened.

The alarm went off.

She raced out of the factory, adrenaline surging, and high-tailed it back to the station. Boarding the return train in the early-morning light, she mulled what Ryan had said about Spain, its importance, and her role in it. What she was about to do—however large or small—seemed to be an important part of the OSS operation, and of the overall Allied strategy to win the war. But after tonight’s fiasco, would she still be chosen for the assignment?

Stepping into the first compartment she placed her small traveling bag on the floor and sat opposite a man looking out the window. Before she could collect her thoughts, the man turned to her.

“Would you like me to put your suitcase on the rack?”

Aline’s eyes widened. Pierre!

She jumped up and grabbed her bag. “I’ll have to go to another coach. You know we’re not allowed to speak to colleagues outside The Farm.”

Pierre took the bag from her and stowed it. “Don’t worry about that. Nobody we know is on this train.”

Aline was torn. She didn’t want to break protocol, but before she could object, Pierre pulled her down next to him. It was not an unwelcome gesture.

“What are you doing here?” she asked.

Pierre grinned. “And you?”

Aline kicked herself. Of course Pierre wouldn’t say what he had been doing, nor would she. It was The Farm’s first rule: secrecy. She changed the subject, and they talked about the war for a few minutes as other passengers boarded.

“I wanted to be alone with you for a long time,” he finally said, leaning close.

Footsteps sounded by their door and he sat back. It was the conductor, who collected their tickets. Before Pierre could continue, though, a woman with a small child entered their compartment, followed by an army officer.

Aline and Pierre pretended not to know each other for the rest of the trip, and she wondered again what he was doing there. The train arrived at Penn Station and Pierre pulled her bag down from the rack. While the others in the cabin were gathering their things, he whispered: “You will have dinner with me?”

She shook her head. “I can’t.”

Snatching her bag, she squeezed into the herd of exiting passengers and looked for her connecting train to Washington.

Back at The Farm she told Captain Williams what had happened with the break-in, and he informed her that she had gone to the wrong office and broken into the wrong safe. Still, he said, her partial success had earned her a C+.

She didn’t mention seeing Pierre on the train.



Over the next few days she continued with Morse, cipher, and the shooting range during mornings and afternoons, and the study of Spain at night. So that others wouldn’t know the specifics of her upcoming assignment, she pulled multiple books for other countries as well. She talked with Pierre several times during the week, still feeling that electric connection to him, but they were never alone for more than a few minutes.

Finally, it was over. From dawn to midnight, November 1 to 21, her training had continued without a break. Aline was a cipher expert now, adept at Morse and coding, and able to handle almost any weapon. The study of Spain had been fascinating, but she knew she needed to brush up on her Spanish to be close to fluent. Williams told her that she had passed the training, and that she’d need to go to Washington the first week of December for final instructions.

On her way to the capital, Aline couldn’t help but think of Pierre. She was riding in the same Chevy that had taken them to The Farm a month earlier. They had planned to see each other the following Sunday, but it would be for only a few hours. Still, she couldn’t wait.

At the Q Building, Frank Ryan was all smiles.

“I guess this is our last meeting, Butch. You’re on your way.”

Aline nodded, butterflies swarming.

“You certainly wanted to get into the war badly that night I met you at my brother’s house. Well, you’re in it and you’ve earned your way. Here’s what you’re going to do.”

Ryan explained that Aline would be cipher clerk in the OSS Madrid station, which was very small. At the moment, he said, there was only a station chief, a senior coder, and two secretaries. They’d be sending a radio man at some point, along with a financial officer, a Basque expert, and eventually two more cipher clerks. Because the station’s coding room was swamped, he was going to do his best to expedite her travel.

“When I met you in New York,” he went on, “I had just come back from one and a half years in Spain. I’m the guy who recommended you for this role, and I’m still the guy. You fit into the scenario as if made for the part. But if you fail, it’ll be my failure also.”

Aline shifted in her chair. She hadn’t before considered that Ryan’s reputation was on the line in recruiting her.

“You’re not having second thoughts?”

She shook her head. “No. I’m scared, excited, but dying to go. I hope you haven’t overestimated me.”

Ryan reassured Aline that he had confidence in her, and said he was very proud of her. The only thing left now was to meet Whitney Shepardson, chief of OSS’s Secret Intelligence branch. At The Farm she’d been told that he was OSS’s most powerful man next to Bill Donovan, and he was considered a legend by many. He held degrees from Oxford—where he was a Rhodes Scholar—and Harvard Law School, but he chose international affairs as his occupation. At the close of World War I, the State Department had sent him to the Versailles Peace Conference as an aide to Edward House, President Woodrow Wilson’s chief adviser, and later he served as secretary to the commission that drafted the Covenant of the League of Nations.

Aline was shown into Shepardson’s office and found its occupant to be a distinguished silver-haired man whose deeply lined face suggested either too much reading or too much pressure. Shepardson rose to greet her and invited her to have a seat.

“I hope you will speak freely to me,” he said. “Personal contact with my agents is worth ten of these reports.” He held up some papers and set them aside. He then asked her the same question she’d been asked so often lately: Why did she want to join the war effort, particularly in a role that might very well be hazardous?

“Mr. Shepardson, every boy I know is in, including two of my brothers—both younger than I. I love my country as much as they do, and I am just as willing to risk my life. It’s not fair that only men should be allowed to fight for this great country.”

Shepardson smiled, apparently liking what he heard. “You’ll have plenty of opportunity to do something for your country, Miss Griffith. Perhaps more than you realize.”

The chief spoke to her about the importance of Madrid, about the enemy’s presence there, and about Operation Anvil, the Allied plan to invade southern France. Some of the Madrid station’s work would involve that plan, he said, and she would likely come across it in her decoding.

“Your cover will be the American oil mission,” he explained, “which is the same for many of our agents there, although we have others using the cover of international companies with offices in Spain. Tell your family and friends to write you through your APOV number. All letters you send will be censored.”

Shepardson showed her to the door, letting her know that she would be contacted at the proper time for travel arrangements. “God bless you,” he said as they parted.

With OSS’s official approval, Aline went home to Pearl River to wait for news of her departure date. The following Sunday, December 5, she met Pierre at the Plaza Hotel. It was a violation of OSS protocol and Aline should have known better, but it was the last chance she’d get to see him before he was off to who-knew-where the following day.

She had carefully planned her attire, wearing her best Hattie Carnegie suit—a blue tweed—with matching cape and hat. Pierre was late, but that didn’t matter when their eyes met and he kissed her hand under the glittering chandeliers of the Plaza Hotel lobby. Pulling her close and taking her arm, he suggested they walk across the street to Central Park.

They wandered around the park, peeked inside a museum for a few minutes, talking about everything but the future. Aline wondered where the OSS was sending Pierre, but she couldn’t ask and he couldn’t tell her. At one point he alluded to danger ahead and suggested that he might not return. Occupied France, Aline figured.

Pierre then took her to lunch at the most popular place in town: the Stork Club. A favorite haunt of celebrities like Lucille Ball and Frank Sinatra, the Stork Club hosted some twenty-five hundred people on a busy day. It was a marvelous outing and Aline couldn’t have been happier.

Pierre ordered champagne, which she had never tasted, and when it arrived he took a small box from his pocket and placed it in front of her. It was from Cartier.

She pulled the ribbon and gasped. Inside was the most stunning ring she had ever seen—a twisting gold band encircling a sparkling sapphire.

She looked at Pierre, swept away. “I don’t think I can accept such a valuable gift.”

“Of course you can. I want you to remember me.”

“I’ll remember you no matter what.”

Pierre smiled and nodded toward the box.

Aline put the ring on and to her surprise, it fit perfectly.

It all seemed a dream. And like a dream, it had to come to an end.

It was now four o’clock. She had to catch her train, and Pierre had to be on his way to wherever he was going.

They said goodbye and Pierre pulled her close and kissed her.

I. On the evening of April 14, 1931, 29,953 monarchists had been elected, while only 8,855 Republican candidates had been elected.

II. The Abwehr was German military intelligence. The Nazi party had their own intelligence branch called the Sicherheitsdienst (SD), directed by Ernst Kaltenbrunner. The head of the SD’s foreign intelligence arm, whom Aline would later see in Madrid, was Walter Schellenberg.

III. Heinrich Himmler, head of the SS, Hitler’s private Nazi army.

IV. Admiral Wilhelm Canaris would later be arrested and executed for his part in the July 20, 1944, attempt to assassinate Hitler.

V. Army Post Office.






CHAPTER 4 THE CLERK


While Aline was eager to depart for her assignment, OSS’s Secret Intelligence office had a number of administrative matters to address before she could leave. They had ordered her overseas security check when she finished her training at The Farm, but it would take weeks to process.

The OSS also had to work out a compensation plan with the State Department. Since Aline’s cover was as a clerk for the American Oil Control Commission, the State Department would issue the check that would be her formal pay. From them she would receive a salary of $1,800 per year (less than the $2,400 salary she made modeling for Hattie Carnegie). Secretly, she would also receive $1,000 per annum from the OSS. And since she would be on call for the code room at any hour, and was likely to have assignments outside normal office hours, the State Department factored into her regular pay an additional $390 per annum for overtime.I

On January 10, 1944, Ryan put in a request for Aline’s expedited transport to Spain and was informed that it would take two weeks. The identity and travel schedule of high-ranking military and intelligence officers going to Europe was top secret, and passage across the Atlantic was hard to come by. As a result, most OSS agents traveled to their destinations by sea. Because of Madrid’s desperate need for Aline’s services, however, Ryan wanted something else, something faster.


[image: Image]
Aline’s transportation was so top secret that the means of transport was not mentioned in the OSS scheduling. Traveling with Aline were two men, identified only by their initials: “J. H. M.” and “W. L. M.” NARA





Aline sat in her room at the Biltmore Hotel in midtown Manhattan looking out the frosted window at the softly falling snow. It was January 27 and she had been cooped up here on the fifteenth floor for two days, unable to speak to anyone. This was normal protocol for passengers departing for Lisbon on Pan American’s Yankee Clipper, the only air service from the US to Europe. The navy feared lurking German U-boats might target the seaplane as it was taking off, or Luftwaffe fighters might cause trouble along the flight path to Lisbon, so passengers never knew until the last minute when they were to depart. They were told to wait in their hotel rooms, perhaps for days, until a call came telling them that it was time to leave.

The Clipper was a Boeing 314 long-range flying boat, one of the largest aircraft in the world. It provided luxury transportation that only the wealthy could afford in peacetime, and only high-ranking diplomats and senior military officers could utilize in wartime.II In addition to private sleeping quarters, it had a formal dining room, lounge, bar, and a women’s dressing room. It even had a honeymoon suite.

Since only twelve had been built, getting passage on the Clipper was rare, even for top-level officials. That Aline had been selected for passage on the Clipper spoke volumes about what the OSS thought of her skills and potential. OSS staff working in the Madrid office, including station chief H. Gregory Thomas, all had traveled by sea—a two-week journey just to reach Lisbon.

Finally, late that night the call came, and ten minutes later there was a knock at the door. Two men greeted her without giving their names and said they’d escort her to the Marine Air Terminal at LaGuardia Field. They also said they would be joining her on the flight. Aline’s traveling companions were James H. MacMillan and William Larimer Mellon, Jr., one of the heirs to the Mellon banking fortune. MacMillan was to be Madrid’s deputy chief and financial officer, and Mellon would be the office’s expert on the French-Spanish escape line, a route of safe houses through which downed Allied pilots and blown spies could make their way to safety in Gibraltar, and from there to England.

When the trio arrived at the pier, Aline was struck by how dark it was. Cloud cover masked the moon, and with all the city’s millions of windows covered in blackout curtains, the New York skyline had vanished. It was pitch-black and cold. A man in military uniform escorted them from the car to a small motorboat. Aline, MacMillan, and Mellon got in and moments later they were bouncing along the waves toward the giant Clipper.

Aline had never flown before, or even been near a plane, and the sheer size of this behemoth floating on the waves took her breath away. It was 28 feet high, had a wingspan of 152 feet, and weighed some 82,000 pounds.

She boarded with the others and was surprised to see that the interior was not set up with rows of seats but looked more like a living room; there were armchairs and sofas arranged so that passengers could converse as if sitting in a hotel lobby. She grabbed an open armchair, and moments later the Clipper’s engines roared to life and the plane began rumbling across the choppy water.


[image: Image]
Pan American’s Boeing 314 Yankee Clipper.



When they were airborne, a man sitting across from her pointed out that she was the only woman on board, something she had already noticed. He chattered away, describing the dining room upstairs, telling her, “We travel in luxury.”

He wasn’t exaggerating. The Clipper could hold as many as seventy-four passengers and had sleepers for thirty-four. The seating area boasted deeply upholstered chairs and sofas, and the service from the white-coated staff mirrored what one would expect from a fine hotel. The Clipper’s chefs, John Salmini and Bruce Candotti, had, in fact, been trained at the Waldorf-Astoria.

When it was time for dinner, Aline was amazed to see that the dining room was like an elegant restaurant: white linen tablecloths, silver and china, and the ever-present steward with a napkin draped over his arm. The meal matched the five-star accommodation, too: shrimp cocktail, turtle soup, salad, filet mignon, mashed potatoes, and asparagus, with peach melba and petit fours for dessert.
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